

GUIDELINES

Witold Rzyman¹, Joanna Didkowska², Robert Dziedzic¹, Tomasz Grodzki³, Tadeusz Orłowski⁴, Edyta Szurowska⁵, Renata Langfort⁶, Wojciech Biernat⁷, Dariusz M. Kowalski⁸, Wojciech Dyszkiewicz⁹, Tadeusz Jędrzejczyk¹⁰, Tomasz Zdrojewski¹¹, Sergiusz Nawrocki¹², Ewa Jassem¹³, Mariusz Adamek¹⁴

¹Chair and Department of Thoracic Surgery, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

²Department of Epidemiology and Cancer Prevention, Maria Sklodowska-Curie, Memorial Cancer Centre in Warsaw, Poland

³Chair and Department of Thoracic Surgery, Pomeranian Medical University in Szczecin, Poland

⁴Department of Thoracic Surgery, National Research Institute of Chest Diseases, Warsaw, Poland

⁵2nd Department of Radiology, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

⁶Department of Pathology, National Research Institute of Chest Diseases, Warsaw, Poland

⁷Department of Pathomorphology, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

[®]Department of Lung Cancer and Chest Tumours, Maria Sklodowska-Curie Memorial Cancer Centre and Institute, Warsaw, Poland

⁹Chair and Department of Thoracic Surgery, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poland

¹⁰Department of Public Health and Social Medicine, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

¹¹Department of Preventive Medicine and Education, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

¹²Chair of Oncology and Radiotherapy, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Poland

¹³Chair and Department of Pneumonology and Allergology Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

¹⁴Chair and Department of Thoracic Surgery, Medical University of Silesia in Katowice, Poland

Reviewers:

Adam Antozak, MD, PhD, Professor, Department of General and Oncological Pneumonology, First Chair of Internal Diseases, Medical University of Lodz, Poland

Katarzyna Dziadziuszko, MD, PhD, Department of Radiology, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

Jesper Holst Pedersen, MD, PhD, Associate Professor, University of Copenhagen, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

Consensus statement on a screening programme for the detection of early lung cancer in Poland

Abstract

Introduction: Lung cancer is the most common cancer in Poland and worldwide, and the leading cause of cancer-related deaths. Compared to the present day, the annual number of new cases of lung cancer will have increased by approximately 50%, by 2030. The overall ratio of mortality to incidence totals 0.87 and is among the highest. The five-year survival rate in Poland has recently achieved 13.4%. In 2015, lung cancer screening using low-dose computed tomography (LDCT) was introduced to routine clinical practice in the United States following the publication of the largest randomised study, The National Lung Screening Trial. The implementation of screening programmes in Poland and the rest of Europe also seems unavoidable. Due to the differences, both in the socioeconomic considerations and healthcare funding, compared to that in the United States, the current approach comes down to the awaited results of the European randomised study, NELSON.

Material and methods: During the meeting of an expert panel at the "Torakoneptunalia 2016" conference in Jastarnia, Poland, a decision was made to summarise and publish the current data on LDCT lung cancer screening in the form of recommendations, or a position statement. The document was prepared by a team composed of a radiologist, thoracic surgeons, pulmonologists, clinical oncologists, epidemiologists, internists, health prevention specialists and pathologists. It reflects the current body of knowledge about lung cancer, its diagnosis and treatment, and provides recommendations on early detection of lung cancer using LDCT. The recommendations address the screening procedure, the requirements for the teams conducting the screening, and the requirements for radiologists, pathologists and surgeons involved in the diagnosis and treatment of patients.

Results: While awaiting the results of the NELSON study on lung cancer screening methodology, the multidisciplinary group of experts presents their position, laying grounds for the development of an action plan for early detection of lung cancer in the upcoming future in Poland. **Conclusions:** Primary and secondary prophylaxis are the principal ways to reduce lung cancer mortality. While smoking cessation is a task of utmost importance, it must be accompanied by an effective screening programme if the outcome of the disease is to be improved.

Key words: lung cancer screening, early detection, secondary prophylaxis

Adv Respir Med. 2018; 86(1): 53-74. doi 10.5603/ARM.2018.0009

Address for correspondence: Witold Rzyman, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Medical University of Gdansk, Tel. +48 58 349 3130, e-mail: wrzyman@gumed.edu.pl D0I: 10.5603/ARM.2018.0009
Received: 12.09.2017

Copyright © 2018 PTChP ISSN 2451–4934

Table of contents:

1.	The epidemiology and treatment of lung cancer in the world, Europe and Poland	54
2.	Detection of lung cancer	55
3.	Screening in the United States, Europe and Poland	56
4.	Pathways for implementing lung cancer screening programmes in Poland and in Europe	57
5.	Expected outcomes of screening implementation	59
	Risks and problems associated with the implementation of screening programmes	
	Requirements for screening centres: the multidisciplinary team	
	Radiological requirements for the equipment, absorbed dose and nodule evaluation	
	Population at risk and risk assessment	
10.	Smoking cessation programme	66
11.	Evaluation and treatment of lesions detected on screening examinations	67
	Pathology	
	Additional programmes accompanying lung cancer screening	
	Quality evaluation and training/education. Registration and certification of the centres	
	Involvement of thoracic surgeons in preparation of screening programmes	

1. The epidemiology and treatment of lung cancer in the world, Europe and Poland

According to the World Health Organisation (WHO), lung cancer is the most common cancer in the world (about 1.8 million new cases annually, accounting for nearly 13% of all new cancer cases). Males account for 68% of all patients. Lung cancer kills an estimated 1.2 million people each year (17% of all cancer deaths) [1]. Approximately 85-90% of lung cancer deaths are closely associated with smoking, with non-smokers accounting for about 10–15% of all lung cancer patients [2]. Several studies investigating lung cancer unrelated to smoking have revealed exposure to certain carcinogenic factors (occupational exposure to risk factors, second-hand cigarette smoke, fume pollution at household, atmospheric smog). The molecular and genetic profile is of critical significance in this separate category of lung cancer [3].

The incidence of lung cancer shows a considerable regional variation. Due to the high mortality to incidence ratio totalling 0.87, mortality data can be regarded as an approximate measure of incidence. The highest mortality rates in men (about 50 per 100,000) are reported in the countries of Central and Eastern Europe (including Poland) and in Central and East Asia. The lowest mortality rates (about 2 per 100,000) are recorded in the countries of Central and West Africa. The pattern of prevalence of lung cancer in women is slightly different and also follows the distribution model of smoking, with the highest mortality rates being observed in North America (34) per 100,000) and Northern Europe (24 per 100,000), slightly lower rates being reported in the countries of Central Europe (including Poland) and Asia (below 20 per 100,000), and the lowest rates being found in West Africa and the Middle East (about 1 per 100,000) [1]. In Europe, lung cancer was the most common cause of cancer mortality in men (254 thousand; 26%) and also accounted for 13% of cancer deaths in women (99 thousand) in 2012. Since the mid-1990s, a downward trend has been noted in the incidence of lung cancer in most European countries [4]. No such favourable trend is, however, observed in women [5]. In 2013, a 6% relative decrease compared to 2009 was noted in lung cancer mortality among men in the countries of the European Union, while mortality in women increased by 7% during that period, approaching the value in men [5–7].

In Poland, 14,600 and 7,000 new cases of lung cancer are diagnosed annually in men and in women, respectively (with age-standardised incidence rates of about 48 per 100,000 and 18 per 100,000, respectively), which accounts for 19% and 9% of all new cancer cases in men and in women, respectively [6]. Since 2007, lung cancer has continued to be the most common cause of cancer death not only in men (31% in 2013) but also in women (16% in 2013) [8].

The main cause of the lung cancer epidemic, both worldwide and in Poland, is tobacco smoke. This has been proven by many historical studies, both on the population [9] and biological [10] level. Association between tobacco smoking and risk of disease is a cause-effect and dose-response type of relation [11]. Reducing a population rate of tobacco smoking should be a priority for the healthcare system and a moral duty of every physician. Measurable benefits coming from such an approach were demonstrated in a theoretical model [12] and in empirical studies, also in Poland [12, 13]. The declining trend of lung cancer incidence and mortality in Polish men is the result of reduction in tobacco smoking. Unfortunately, this beneficial

phenomenon has not been observed among women. From the population viewpoint, the most effective action against lung cancer, is primary prevention leading to reduction of smoking prevalence.

Lung cancer is associated with a low survival rate, due to its long asymptomatic course that allows it to remain undetected until it is in an advanced stage. In the United States, the 5-year survival rate of lung cancer was reported at 17.4% [7]. The 5-year survival rates for lung cancer in the 67 countries participating in the CONCORD-2 study for the most recent follow-up period (diagnosed in the years 2005–2009) ranged from 2.2% in Libya to 16.5% in Switzerland, 18.7% in the United States and 30.1% in Japan. In Poland, survival has increased from 11.4% to 13.4% [14].

2. Detection of lung cancer

The clinical manifestations of lung cancer depend on its clinical stage, histological type, tumour location and the presence of distant metastases. In some patients, who are clinically asymptomatic, lung cancer is diagnosed incidentally on imaging during investigation of unrelated problems.

The most common symptoms of central and endobronchial tumours are cough and haemoptysis. Further growth of endobronchial tumours may lead to atelectasis, which is often accompanied by inflammatory or suppurative processes.

Peripheral tumours may also cause dyspnoea due to airway obstruction and symptoms associated with pleural infiltration such as pain, effusion or chest wall destruction. In patients with advanced disease, the most common manifestations include general symptoms (asthenia, weight loss, lowgrade fever) and symptoms specific to the location of metastases (bone pain). In about 10–20% of the patients, the diagnosis of lung cancer is preceded by paraneoplastic syndromes (SIADH, carcinoid syndrome, Cushing's syndrome, Lambert-Eaton myasthenic syndrome, hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy, hypercalcaemia) [15].

The purpose of the diagnostic evaluation of lung cancer is to establish its histological type and stage. The principal elements of the diagnostic process in lung cancer are medical history, physical examination, imaging studies and invasive diagnostic procedures.

The main imaging modality used to diagnose lung cancer is computed tomography of the chest [16]. With the advent of low-dose computed tomography (LDCT), plain radiography is gradually losing its significance, although it is still the most commonly ordered investigation in clinical practice in Poland.

The purpose of non-invasive evaluation is to detect lung cancer and, if detected, to establish its TNM stage. PET-CT is the most valuable imaging modality in detecting metastases to mediastinal lymph nodes and to distant organs. Imaging is also useful in the monitoring of treatment efficacy.

The most common radiological manifestations of lung cancer include a coin lesion (solitary pulmonary nodule), hilar enlargement, at electasis or emphysema and pleural effusion. PET-CT is currently used to detect remote metastases. Patients being considered for curative surgery or radiotherapy, require an assessment of pulmonary function (spirometry, diffusing capacity testing) and cardiovascular function (ECG, echocardiography).

The final diagnosis is established on the basis of histopathological or, less frequently, cytological examination. Tissue samples for examination are collected during bronchoscopy, EBUS/ /EUS, transthoracic biopsy of peripheral lesions, mediastinoscopy or thoracotomy. The resulting histopathological specimens are used to determine the histological type of the tumour (small cell lung carcinoma, adenocarcinoma, squamous cell carcinoma etc.) and to carry out molecular testing (activating mutations in the EGFR gene, ALK gene rearrangements etc.), which determines further targeted therapy. Cytology is of limited diagnostic significance in lung cancer. It can be useful for patients in whom tissue samples cannot be obtained due to technical reasons or a poor performance status.

Positive prognostic and predictive factors include the following: early stage of the disease, good performance status (Zubrod/ECOG score of 0–1 or 2), absence of clinically relevant weight deficit (a weight loss of no more than 5%), female sex [17].

The presence of activating mutations in the EGFR gene (exon 19 deletions and exon 21 mutation) and rearrangements in the ALK and ROS1 genes, have been reported to be predictive factors in treatment response to tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs), but they are not recognised prognostic factors in survival, whichever treatment is used. Mutations in the EGFR gene are found in about 10–16% of adenocarcinomas in the European population and are unrelated to exposure to tobacco [18].

The presence of rearrangements in the ALK gene is associated with specific clinicopathological features, namely an earlier age at diagnosis in never-smokers and patients with a short history of smoking, and the histological type of the adenocarcinoma [19].

KRAS mutations are found in about 25% of patients diagnosed with adenocarcinoma of the lung. They are associated with smoking and are a negative prognostic and predictive factor in TKI treatment [20].

Other biomarkers, such as rearrangements in fusion genes, are being actively investigated as potential targets for new therapeutic technologies.

3. Screening in the United States, Europe and Poland

The aim of population screening programmes is to reduce mortality in the general population [21] by detecting the disease in its early. asymptomatic stage, in order to treat it effectively and, as a result, to prevent deaths from the disease. Activities aimed to prolong survival and to improve the quality of life, do not meet the definition of a population screening programme. However, the increasing possibilities of treatment interventions in patients with early-stage lung cancer, which can prolong survival and improve the quality of life, have triggered the development of screening programmes aimed to detect this malignancy in groups particularly exposed to risk factors, namely, in this case, to long and intensive smoking. The set of activities can be considered screening programmes for high-risk groups.

In the case of lung cancer, screening is intended for the asymptomatic subpopulation at a given age (over 50–55 years) with a determined minimum tobacco exposure (at least 20–30 pack-years, depending on the recommendations). These features define the high-risk group basing on the demonstrated dose-effect relationship between smoking and lung cancer [22].

According to some recommendations, additional risk factors (passive smoking, exposure to radon, environmental and occupational exposure to carcinogens, lung diseases not related to cancer, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [COPD], idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [IPF], a personal history of lung cancer or lung cancer in a first-degree relative) can also be taken into account when selecting the target group.

Screening programmes using conventional chest radiography conducted between 1950 and 1970 with or without sputum cytology, failed to show any statistically significant reduction in lung cancer mortality. This has been confirmed in a randomised phase 3 study (The Prostate, Lung, Colorectal and Ovarian — PLCO), which showed that annual screening assessments using chest radiography were useless in high-risk individuals [23].

Since the 1990s, low-dose computed tomography (LDCT) has been used as a screening tool. Chest LDCT is a safe non-contrast diagnostic procedure involving 10–30 fold lower radiation dose compared to standard CT examination. LDCT screening is intended to detect non-calcified nodules that may raise suspicion of lung cancer, depending primarily on their morphology and size, e.g. solid nodules; part-solid nodules; ground-glass nodules (GGNs). LDCT has a lower diagnostic value in non-solid nodules than in GGNs.

The thin-section of the reconstruction layer enables the detection of small lesions (high sensitivity), both benign and malignant [24, 25]. LDCT allows to evaluate other pathological lesions in the mediastinum, bronchi, lung parenchyma, blood vessels and upper abdominal structures visualised during the study.

Analyses of observational studies conducted in Japan, the United States and Germany have demonstrated that about 85–93% of stage I lung cancers can be detected using LDCT [26].

An international non-randomised study in over 31,000 high-risk individuals (I-ELCAP), has confirmed LDCT to be an effective tool for the detection of early lung cancer, with 85% of the cancers being detected in stage I. However, due to the short follow-up (40 months) and the low proportion of participants followed up for more than 5 years (only 20%), the projected 10-year survival rate of 92% was associated with a significant risk of statistical error [27].

The results of the National Lung Cancer Trial (NLST), the largest randomised clinical study that used LDCT for lung cancer screening versus chest radiography, that was published in 2011 and included over 53,000 participants, showed a 20% relative reduction in lung cancer mortality and a 7% relative risk decline in all-cause mortality, in the study group. On the basis of these results, the United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) recommends screening in the group at high risk of lung cancer, i.e. those over 55 years of age and a smoking history of at least 30 pack-years [28].

The results of the NLST have changed clinical practice. Since 2015, the Centres for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) in the United States have covered the costs of LDCT in groups at increased risk of lung cancer. Reservations concerning the routine implementation of this screening, which have also been expressed by us, are mainly related to the high percentage of false positive results (positive results in at least one of the three rounds in 39.1% of the individuals), low cancer detection rate (only 3.5%), overdiagnosis

and overtreatment in the screened group.

A prospective randomised clinical study is currently under way in Europe (NELSON). It has enrolled over 15,000 current or former smokers with a smoking history of at least 15 pack-years, who undergo annual LDCT examinations [29]. While awaiting the publication of the study, European scientific societies, such as the European Society of Radiology (ESR), the European Respiratory Society (ERS) and the European Society of Thoracic Surgery (ESTS) recommend screening as part of long-term programmes conducted in comprehensively equipped, multidisciplinary and certified centres [30, 31].

Another pilot study, the UK Lung Screening (UKLS), has confirmed the possibility of detecting lung cancer while it is still in the potentially curable stage [32].

The results of these two European studies may serve as proof of the efficacy of lung cancer screening using chest LDCT, unequivocally demonstrated in the American study, the NLST.

The Table 1 is presenting characteristics of the selected randomised controlled lung cancer screening trials.

Several Polish centres, including Gdansk, Szczecin, Warsaw, Poznan and Zabrze, have conducted pilot studies using chest LDCT in high-risk individuals. In total, almost 50,000 people were examined in the above-mentioned centres. Lung cancer was detected in approximately 1% of the examined individuals (from 0.86% in Szczecin, to 1.05% in Gdańsk). Lung cancer in stage I was 64 to 70% of detected cancers. The results of these studies have highlighted the scale of tobacco smoking in the Polish population, indicated the growing awareness of the risk of lung cancer in the society and confirmed the efficacy of LDCT in detecting pulmonary nodules [39, 40].

The decision to join a screening programme should be a shared decision made by the physician and a patient and should be individually discussed, particularly in patients with comorbidities.

4. Pathways for implementing lung cancer screening programmes in Poland and in Europe

No lung cancer screening programmes on a mass scale similar to those in the United States and China, have been implemented in Poland or in Europe. The guidelines on lung cancer screening based on LDCT are grounded on the assumption that such screening programmes or pilot projects will be implemented in Poland in the near future. Screening programmes using LDCT have been recommended by the following documents prepared by European organisations and societies: the European Respiratory Society (ESR)/European Society of Radiology (ERS) white paper on lung cancer screening [30], the position statement of Swiss University Hospitals [41], the position statement of the European Society of Medical Oncology (ESMO) [42], the ESTS guidelines [31] and the British Thoracic Society guidelines [43]. In 2017, the European Union position statement on lung cancer screening has been published and recommended implementation of the low-dose CT screening throughout Europe as soon as possible [44]. Many countries (United Kingdom, Netherlands, Belgium, Denmark) are developing lung cancer screening programmes adapted to country-specific political, economic, epidemiological and cultural circumstances. Prepared by a multidisciplinary team of experts representing all the specialties involved in such programmes and having experience in conducting screening programmes, the document is intended to serve as a foundation for the preparation of a national programme for early detection of lung cancer.

In 2016, 269,000 people in Europe, including 22,000 in Poland, died from lung cancer, with late diagnosis being the main reason. The aims of the screening are early diagnosis, successful treatment and mortality reduction. Implementation of early lung cancer detection programmes on a mass scale is a high-priority task for healthcare systems in Europe and in Poland. A total of 4 pilot programmes have been conducted in Poland so far. All of them were short-term projects with only 1–3 screening examinations conducted in each participant. A total of about 50,000 people were screened in these programmes in Szczecin, Gdańsk, Poznań and Warsaw, with more than 500 cases of lung cancer being detected, most often in stage I, i.e. the stage in which curative surgery is still possible.

Public healthcare management institutions in Europe are awaiting the results of the randomised Dutch-Belgian study, NELSON, to be published in by 2019. Pathways for implementing the screening programmes within the European Community are bound to differ from country to country, depending on socioeconomic circumstances. Active steps need to be taken in Poland to prepare a cost-effective, high-quality programme for early detection of lung cancer. The launch of the programme should initially be restricted to centres with multidisciplinary teams experienced in conducting the types of projects and meeting the requirements of most guidelines published

trials
screening
g cancer
Jung
lomised
d rand
selected
s of
teristic
. Charac
÷
Fable

Name of the	Recruitment		Enrollment criteria	6	Screening methods		Resul	Results of the screening programmes	ening progra	mmes	
study	period	Age	Pack-years	Years of quit- ting smoking		Number o indiv	Number of screened individuals	% of dete gnant ne	% of detected mali- gnant neoplasms	% of lung o	% of lung cancer dia- gnosed at I TNM stage
						LDCT	Control	LDCT	Control	LDCT	Control
NLST [33]	2002–2004	55–75	> 30	< 15	Annual LDCT vs X-ray for 3 years	26,722	26,732	3.9%	3.5%	28.5%	30.7%
MILD [34]	2005–2011	> 49	> 20	< 10	Annual screen vs biennial screen for	1152	1151	3.6%	2.7%	52.4%	51.6%
		No ca	No cancers within past 5 years	years	5 years						
ITALUNG [35]	2004–2006	55–69	> 20	NA	Annual LDCT for 4 years vs no screen	1613	1593	4.2%	4.6%	%98	11%
DANTE [36]	2001–2006	60–75	> 20	< 10	Annual LDCT for 4 years vs no screen	1264	1186	5.2 %	2.9%	71.2%	22.5%
			male					,			
DLCST [37]	2004–2006	50–70	> 20	< 10	Annual LDCT for 5 years vs usual	202	202	4.9%	7.6%	20%	15.1%
		FEV ₁ > 30%,	FEV ₁ > 30%, able to climb two flights of stairs without pausing	lights of stairs	care						
NELSON [38]	2003–2006	50–75	>15	NA	LDCT in year 1, year 2, year 4, and year 5–6 vs no screen	7557	NA	3.4%	NA	%69	NA
ISNI	2007–2011	69-05	NA	NA	Annual LDCT and smoking	2029	2032	3.1%	1.6%	74%	9.4%
		¥	Heavy smoking history	лу	cessation for 5 years vs smoking cessation alone						
NKLS	2011–2014	50–75	NA	NA	Single LDCT vs no screen	2028	2027	2.1%	NA	%2'99	NA
		eγ-5 % of 5-ye	\geq 5 % of 5-year lung cancer risk by LLP	by LLP score							

by world organisations involved in screening programmes. The requirements are detailed in the next section. Basing on the experience gained by the centres, subsequent teams should be trained to conduct screening that provides the highest possible effectiveness and the lowest adverse effects for the participants.

In European countries, the implementation of lung cancer screening programmes will most likely be based on the experience gained in other screening initiatives implemented in the past (breast cancer, colorectal cancer). This means that these programmes will be in wholly or partly financed from public funding in order to give all the social groups of citizens equal access to the project [45].

5. Expected outcomes of screening implementation

The main goal of secondary prevention of lung cancer is to detect it at an early stage to reduce mortality associated with the malignancy. The ongoing studies in the United States and pilot projects in other countries, are aimed to develop a management algorithm leading to a significant reduction in side effects and adverse events associated with LDCT screening.

Observational studies have shown an increased detection rate in early stages of the disease (with about 85% of the detected cancers being stage I cancers), which entails considerably improved treatment outcomes in this group of patients [22].

In 2015, two American analyses were published that retrospectively reviewed data from the largest randomised screening programme, the NLST, using the Lung Imaging Reporting and Data System (Lung-RADS™) criteria [46, 47]. Basing on these studies, it was proposed to increase the threshold size for the pulmonary nodule to 6 mm, thus defining a positive result of chest LDCT. This change allowed to reduce the rate of false positive results from 27.6% to 10.6% in the study carried out by McKee *et al.* [46] and from 26.6% to 12,8% in the analysis performed by Pinsky *et al.* [47].

In an effort to standardise radiological guidelines for chest LDCT and to reduce false positive results in lung cancer screening, the American College of Radiology (ACR) eventually proposed a data classification and reporting system according to Lung-RADS™. It resembles other radiological classification systems, e.g. BI-RADS (Breast Imaging Reporting and Data System) approved

for breast cancer screening, PI-RADS (Prostate Imaging Reporting and Data System) used for the diagnosis of prostate cancer or LI-RADS (Liver Imaging Reporting and Data System), helpful in the diagnosis of hepatocellular cancer.

In practice, there are several protocols defining the conditions of lung cancer screening and algorithms to follow if nodules or other suspected pulmonary lesions are detected.

6. Risks and problems associated with the implementation of screening programmes

Prognosis in lung cancer strictly depends on the initial stage of the disease at diagnosis. The 5-year survival rates in non-small cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) are as follows: 49% and 45% in stages IA and IB, 30% and 31% in stages IIA and IIB, and 14% and 5% in stages IIIA and IIIB, respectively. Only about 1% of NSCLC patients with stage IV disease survive 5 years after diagnosis [48].

In the NLST, 40% of the lung cancers were in stage IA, 12% in stage IIIB and 22% in stage IV. The respective proportions in the control arm, the chest radiography arm, were 21%, 13% and 36%. The proportion of lower-stage cancers is therefore increasing, as is the proportion of lobectomies versus pnemonectomies (1% in screening studies versus 20–30% of pneumonectomies in symptomatic patients) [49].

The drawbacks of screening in lung cancer include the following:

- 1. Detection of clinically irrelevant lesions, among them indolent lung cancers; there is still an unmet need for effective tests that would assist in differentiating between malignant and benign nodule phenotypes (molecular screening, immunological evaluation, state-of-the-art techniques in nuclear medicine and radiology etc.).
- 2. A negative psychosocial repercussion among people who do not accept the idea of living with a pulmonary nodule in their bodies (where management according to the algorithm guidelines is not required).
- 3. The need to use invasive diagnostic methods, which expose the patient to potential side effects.
- 4. The risk of unnecessary surgery (surgical treatment of non-cancerous nodules).
- 5. The risk of delayed treatment of lesions suggestive of a benign nature (management according to the algorithm imposing specific time intervals during observation of the nodule).

- 6. Suppression of vigilance in smokers: "since there are tests now that can detect lung cancer early, I don't need to quit smoking".
- 7. High costs of detecting one cancer case among the screened individuals (about PLN 30,000 in Poland and much more in Europe and the United States).

LDCT screening identifies both malignant and benign non-calcified nodules. While the overall proportion of false positive results in the study group of the NLST was high (96.4%), the cumulative risk of a false positive result was 33% in individuals undergoing screening in two consecutive annual scans. The use of LDCT in the NLST was therefore characterised by a high sensitivity and a relatively low specificity. The use of volumetric analysis for the assessment of pulmonary nodules in the NELSON study is likely to significantly decrease the proportion of false positive results [50].

The categorisation and reporting of the detected lesions can be inconsistent. Therefore, there is a need to rationalise and unify the diagnostic algorithms used so far. In an effort to reduce the number of false positive results in lung cancer screening, the American College of Radiology (ACR) proposed a data classification and reporting system according to Lung-RADS™ based on approaches adopted in other cancers.

The use of LDCT as a screening tool is associated with detecting a relatively high proportion of pulmonary nodules in the screened population (an average of 20%), most of which will turn out to be benign. The additional investigations that the volunteers must undergo, increase their exposure to ionising radiation and may also involve additional invasive procedures.

Despite a relatively low dose of radiation used in the screening (approximately 1.5–2 mSv per examination), the radiation dose increases to 8 mSv and 14 mSv if the lesions identified by LDCT require further evaluation by diagnostic CT or PET-CT, respectively. On the basis of the NLST, it has been estimated that the cumulative radiation dose absorbed during 3 years of lung cancer screening is about 8 mSv (including both screening and diagnostic scans).

The influence of radiation exposure on the risk of inducing another carcinoma was extensively studied in lung cancer screening programmes. Rampinelli *et al.* [51], analysed the results of the COSMOS programme, in which over 5,000 people were subjected to low-dose CT screening. During the 10 years of the programme

implementation, over 40,000 LDCT studies and over 600 PET-CT examinations were carried out. The reported risk of radiation-related cancer was approximately 0.05%. Due to the significant impact of the LDCT screening on reducing mortality from lung cancer, it was considered as an acceptable risk.

In the NLST, the proportion of invasive non-surgical procedures in patients with benign lesions was high (73%). In terms of unnecessary operations, the proportions were 1.2% for biopsies and bronchoscopies, and 0.7% for mediastinoscopies and thoracoscopies [33].

The largest number of overdiagnoses in screening programmes has been reported for breast cancer, prostate cancer and, more recently, for lung cancer screening with LDCT. Overdiagnosis refers to the detection of subclinical lesions or indolent tumours that do not cause symptoms and will not decrease the patient's life expectancy. Detection of such lesions may result in unnecessary diagnostic procedures and treatments, psychological burden associated with patient awareness of the disease, and certain economic consequences. Overdiagnosis may unjustifiably inflate curability and survival statistics. In the NLST, the proportion of indolent tumours has been estimated at over 18% [52].

The effect of LDCT screening on the quality of life is unclear. In the NLST and the NELSON study, the quality of life assessment was conducted in patients undergoing the screening.

Among the participants of the NLST, including those with false positive results, no increased rate of anxiety or any differences in the quality of life were observed 1 and 6 months after the end of the screening [53].

In the NELSON study, about 88–99% of the screened patients did not report any negative effects of the screening, although 46% reported distress associated with the wait for the results. No differences in the quality of life were, however, observed during 2 years [54].

It has been suggested that participation in a screening programme may provide the participants with false reassurance and a reason for continuing to smoke. Active smoking cessation counselling should be an integral part of any screening programme.

7. Requirements for screening centres: the multidisciplinary team

A Lung Cancer Screening Centre will be a centre providing high-quality medical services

and must meet the highest quality requirements in the implementation and effective conduct of recruitment among individuals at high risk of lung cancer, in the performance of LDCT scans, the correct interpretation of the scans, and the provision of standard instructions regarding further follow-up or evaluation and effective treatment of patients diagnosed with lung cancer. The Centre should have specialists in all the relevant fields who will work in a multidisciplinary team (MDT) and determine each diagnostic and therapeutic step during MDT meetings. The Lung Cancer Screening Multidisciplinary Team (LCS-MDT) should be composed of a radiologist. pathologist, pulmonologist, thoracic surgeon, oncologist, nurse and a co-ordinator experienced in the diagnosis and treatment of lung cancer and in programmes for early detection of lung cancer. All the members of the LCS-MDT must be specialists in the respective fields and specialise in the diagnosis, treatment and long-term follow-up of nodules identified in screening. Their knowledge should be based on the most recent standards and publications related to lung cancer screening [55]. The LCS-MDT should provide the programme participants with the model of lung cancer diagnosis and treatment commensurate with the adopted standards and recommendations cited in the present document. In addition to the above, the Centre must maintain the appropriate level of provision of information to the participants regarding the adopted procedures, and the standards related to uniform data acquisition and subsequent collection in the general access system in accordance with the Polish Society of Cardiothoracic Surgeons recommendations [56, 57].

A physician specialising in the treatment of tobacco dependence should be an integral member of the LCS-MDT [58] committees with expertise in lung cancer screening were assembled by the Thoracic Oncology Network of the American College of Chest Physicians (CHEST. A tobacco dependence treatment programme will reduce lung cancer mortality and significantly affect the cost effectiveness of the programme for early detection of lung cancer [59, 60]. All the participants of the programme should have access to a smoking cessation programme, as part of the services provided by the public healthcare system. Data on smoking and on the results of cessation interventions should be collected in the general access system and cyclically analysed [61].

Each implemented programme for early detection of lung cancer should provide the data on

the diagnosis and treatment of its participants to a central registry. Efforts should be made to collect biological samples from all the participants of such programmes, with the view of conducting molecular testing with central registration within a biobanking network.

8. Radiological requirements for the equipment, absorbed dose and nodule evaluation

An effective screening programme requires establishment of a qualified multidisciplinary team whose radiologists will ensure that the radiation doses are kept to the minimum, while preserving sufficient quality of the scans to be able to assess the size and morphology of any focal lesions and categorise the lesions according to Lung-RADS and/or volumetry measurements recommended by Henschke et al. already in 1999 [62, 63], then validated and further developed in Nelson trial [50] and UKLS trials [32].

It is advisable that the radiologist's work is complemented by the use of computer software detecting focal lesions in the lungs, measuring their sizes and volumes, calculating their volume doubling times and comparing their sizes. Continued education of the staff and site accreditation will contribute to an increased effectiveness of the screening programmes.

The diagnostic efficacy of chest LDCT, compared to chest radiography, is four-fold higher in detecting malignant lesions and about six-fold higher in identifying stage I lung cancer [64]. LDCT is, however, associated with a higher proportion of false positive diagnoses requiring invasive diagnostic procedures that are performed on the basis of LDCT (7% vs 4% of all participants) [65].

The European Society of Radiology (ESR) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS) published a joint report in 2015 on early detection of lung cancer in Europe, while we are still awaiting the final results of the largest randomised controlled study in Europe, the Dutch-Belgian NELSON study (Nederlands-Leuvens Longkanker Screenings Onderzoek), in which almost 16,000 current or former smokers were screened between 2003 and 2006. The report emphasises that the results of the NLST, a study conducted according to a very good methodology, cannot be ignored, and recommends using LDCT as a screening tool in research studies or clinical practice in certified multidisciplinary centres [30].

There are several reasons for the recommendation for having only dedicated centres conduct screening. Radiologists are responsible

for ensuring that the radiation dose is kept to the minimum, for having a team of qualified members with experience in the assessment of low-dose scans, for participating in training and for using specific radiological assessment criteria.

The most recent guidelines concerning CT scanners published by the American College of Radiology and the Society of Thoracic Radiology (ACR-STR), partially due to their modest requirements, recommend the use of spiral scanners with at least 16 detector rows and following the "as low as reasonably achievable" (ALARA) principle [66].

While following the ALARA principle, LDCT examinations should be carried out in a way that enables radiologists to establish the diagnosis on the basis of an acceptable image quality while using the lowest possible radiation dose. Reconstruction algorithms play a significant role in reducing the radiation dose. The iterative dose reduction system and the use of multiple-row detector technique (with 128 or more detector rows) in the latest CT scanners may reduce the effective dose to 0.1 mSv [67]. According to ACR-STR, the maximum absorbed dose during LDCT should not exceed 3 mGv in the standard patient (height 170 cm, weight 69.75 kg) [66]. The absorbed doses in the NLST and the NELSON study ranged from 2.5 to 6 mGy at the effective doses of 1 mSv in men and 1.3 mSv in women [68].

The LDCT examination must include images from the lung apices to the costophrenic angle. Scans are obtained in deep inspiration without administration of intravenous or oral contrast. The maximum slice thickness is 2.5 mm with the recommended value of 1 mm.

Ready-to-use protocols for CT scanners from various manufactures have been prepared and are available on the American Association of Physicists in Medicine website [69].

According to ACR-STR, the radiologist involved in screening tests must be experienced in analysing low-dose examinations with a documented evaluation (interpreting) of at least 300 chest LDCT examinations in the past 36 months [70]. Image analysis should be performed on dedicated diagnostic consoles in order to detect early lung cancer (nodule) and not to miss any significant lesions. Maximum intensity projection (MIP) reconstructions should be used for pulmonary nodule detection [71]. The examination should be evaluated in the pulmonary window scan by scan. The use of a standard window for soft tissue is additionally recommended to identify any calcifications or enlarged lymph nodes, bearing in mind that their assessment in a low-dose scan is limited. Any additional significant findings should also be reported, such as emphysema and other lung diseases, atherosclerosis, including the coronary artery calcification (CAC) score, aneurysms, osteopenia and other renal, adrenal, hepatic and breast pathologies. All the detected nodules should be classified into one of the following four categories:

- Solid nodules: nodules that completely obscure the lung parenchyma.
- Part-solid nodules: nodules with fragments that do not obscure the lung parenchyma.
- Ground-glass nodules (non-solid nodules): nodules that do not obscure the lung parenchyma.
- Calcified nodules.

Follow-up scans should be compared with baseline scans, and in the first round of the screening programme a check for any prior chest CT examinations should be undertaken; and if such examinations were carried out previously and nodules are detected on screening, a comparative analysis of size and volume based on the findings is recommended.

The nodule size is measured in the pulmonary window on images acquired in the transverse plane (not on coronal or sagittal reconstructions) in various axes. The mean size of the nodule should be calculated from the longest and shortest dimensions and from indirect measurements. The use of computer-assisted detection (CAD) systems and volumetric analyses is advised, which assists the radiologist in visualising the lesions and decreases incongruent differences between the observers' descriptions. In the case of follow-up examinations, these systems allow to compare nodule volume (volumetric assessment) [72] they do not only provide a numerical value but also the volume doubling time (VDT).

In the Dutch-Belgian NELSON study, nodule volume was a useful indicator of malignancy: nodule volume changes of 25% over 3 months suggested potential malignancy. In Europe, volumetric criteria based on the results of Nelson trial are accepted by the majority of radiologists involved in screening. Volumetric analysis according to these criteria is recommended, both in the first and the control LDCTs, in all non-calcified nodules suspected of malignancy.

In the first NELSON protocol, cut-off values for positive/negative result were 50 and 500 mm³ respectively, and in all cases within this range, control LDCT was scheduled in the period shorter than 12 months. Retrospective analysis showed, however, that small nodules of < 100 mm³

(< 5 mm in diameter) were associated with a low risk of malignancy and control LDCT in these cases was the same as in the population without any nodules [73, 74]. Nodules $\geq 300 \text{ mm}^3$ in volume (≥ 10 mm in diameter) required further evaluation: a biopsy or PET-CT. In patients with intermediate nodules with volume 100mm³ to 300 mm³ (5–10 mm), the control was performed after 3 months with VDT measurement [73]. In patients with VDT of 400-600 days, lung cancer was estimated as intermediate and further decisions were discussed on MDT. In patients with nodules where VDT was > 600 days, very low lung cancer risk was assessed. Any new nodules on control LDCT with volume of 30-200 mm³ (4-8 mm in diameter) were considered as suspicious and a checkup after 3 months was performed in these cases. When VDT was < 600 days in such a new nodule, diagnostic procedures were implemented like in all nodules on baseline LDCT $> 200 \text{ mm}^3$ [74].

In solid lung nodules, a radiologist should always analyse and consider their structure that may be for example typical of intraparenchymal lymph nodes, lymph nodes located close to interlobar or intersegmental planes or additionally, inflammatory nodules where the evaluation should be based not only on size measurement but should include the analysis of nodule morphology [75, 76].

In pure and partsolid GGO (Ground Glass Opacity) nodules, the observation should always be considered to avoid invasive diagnostic procedures. In the observation of growth, analysis and morphology assessment is crucial for malignancy risk assessment [75, 76]. In such a nodule the control is performed every 12 months if any previous CT is available. In newly diagnosed GGO lesions checkup after 3 months should be performed and subsequently after 12 months if malignancy risk is < 10%. When the risk is > 10%, invasive diagnosis or operation should be considered.

According to the NELSON study, malignant tumours detected by LDCT are more frequently located in the upper lobes and on the lung periphery [29].

The criteria indicating a benign nature of a nodule with an acceptable diagnostic effectiveness are calcifications and fat, while the growth of a nodule with a volume doubling time in the range of 20–400 days indicates malignancy. Two-thirds of smokers are diagnosed with nodules, 95% of which are less than 10 mm in size with 3% of them being malignant [33].

Evaluation of the nodule structure requires clinical experience. In addition to volumetric assessment, lesions measuring 10 mm or less may also be evaluated using the Lung-RADS criteria developed by the ACR to standardise the reporting of screening LDCT examinations [46].

Category 1 (< 1% risk of malignancy) comprises nodules with the following benign features:

- Completely calcified nodules.
- Nodules with central, concentric or popcornlike calcifications or fat-containing nodules.
 Category 2 comprises benign lesions with a low risk of malignancy (< 1%):
- Solid nodules with an average diameter of < 6 mm, or new nodules (appearing on a subsequent scan) with an average diameter of < 4 mm.
- Part-solid nodules with an average diameter of < 6 mm on the baseline scan.
- Ground-glass nodules with an average diameter of < 20 mm, or ≥ 20 mm if slowly growing or stable during the follow-up period.
- Category 3 and 4 nodules if unchanged for at least 3 months.

Category 3 comprises probably benign lesions with 1–2% risk of malignancy and includes as follows:

- Solid nodules with an average diameter of ≥ 6 mm and < 8 mm, and new solid nodules with an average diameter of ≥ 4 mm and < 6 mm.
- Part-solid nodules with an average diameter of ≥ 6 mm and a solid component of < 6 mm, and new part-solid nodules < 6 mm.
- Ground-glass nodules larger than 20 mm on the baseline scan or new.

Category 4 comprises potentially malignant nodules and includes three subcategories: 4A, 4B and 4X.

Category 4A (5–15% risk of malignancy) comprises the following:

- Solid nodules with an average diameter of ≥ 8 mm
 and < 15 mm on the baseline scan, and growing nodules < 8 mm, and new nodules with an average diameter of ≥ 6 mm and < 8 mm.
- Part-solid nodules with an average diameter of ≥ 6 mm and a solid component of ≥ 6 mm and < 8 mm, and new or growing part-solid nodules with a solid component of < 4 mm.
- Endobronchial nodules.

Category 4B is associated with a risk of malignancy exceeding 15% and includes as follows:

- Solid nodules with an average diameter of \geq 15 mm, and new or growing nodules of \geq 8 mm.
- Part-solid nodules with a solid component of ≥ 8 mm, and new or growing nodules with a solid component of ≥ 4 mm.

Category 4X is associated with a risk of malignancy exceeding 15% and comprises category 3 and 4 nodules with additional features suggestive of malignancy, such as:

- spiculations,
- ground-glass nodules with a volume doubling time of one year,
- enlarged regional lymph nodes.

Category 1 and 2 nodules should be followed up annually by LDCT. Category 3 nodules require a follow-up LDCT in 6 months. The recommended management of category 4 nodules involves a follow-up LDCT in 3 months, a biopsy or a PET-CT of lesions with a solid component of > 8 mm.

When evaluating a nodule using the Lung-RADS criteria, the measurements should be performed on lung windows and reported as the average diameter rather than the longest diameter (similarly to the reporting of cancer lesions using the RECIST classification). For nodules visually assessed as round, no additional measurements need to be performed. The increase in lesion size should also be defined more precisely and nodule growth is defined as an increase in size of $\geq 1.5 \text{ mm}$.

Lung-RADS systematises the assessment of nodules identified in LDCT for the purpose of early detection of lung cancer. It is currently a standard method used for the assessment of pulmonary nodules in the participants of screening programmes in the United States. It can be easily implemented in Poland. On the other hand, in Europe, after the publication of selected results of the NELSON trial, emphasis is placed on volumetric assessment, which is a very accurate method but only when performed in experienced centres.

9. Population at risk and risk assessment

In February 2015, the LDCT lung cancer screening programme was implemented in the United States. Out of approximately 8.5 million eligible individuals, a total of about 1.5 million subjects were included until December 2016 (personal communication: Dr Christine D. Berg, NCI, USA).

Due to methodological and financial reasons and a strong association of the malignancy with smoking, the programme for the detection of early lung cancer does not cover the entire population [30, 77], but only the subpopulation of individuals at an increased risk of developing the disease, defined by specific age and tobacco exposure.

Fundamental to the screening programme intended for the high-risk population is the correct selection of the target group, whose characteristics will depend on epidemiological data, medical circumstances and the level of financial funding.

In the NLST study and in the USPSTF recommendations, inclusion criteria for the screening

programme were based on the number of pack--years and the age of the enrolled individuals [33]. Currently, after re-analysis of the NLST and PLCO cohorts, it is recommended to use predictive models of individual risk of developing lung cancer, which are based on additional risk parameters, that allows to target more precisely the screening population [30, 47, 74]. The application of the models determining probability of tumour malignancy in a given person is an additional recommended element increasing the number of true positive results [31, 43]. Nevertheless, determining the target population of lung cancer screening programmes remains a complex and empirical problem related to the fact that the occurrence of lung cancer in a particular person is a multidimensional variable, similar to the trajectory of health. The predictive model appropriate for the American population not necessarily is appropriate for the Polish population because of their differentness, heterogeneity and dissimilar response to various factors that are determined by environmental influence.

Evaluation of the CT scans should be performed according to criteria specifying how the size of the pulmonary nodule (SPN) should be measured and defining which results should be considered positive and which should be treated as false positive. All these methodological considerations translate into the sensitivity and specificity of LDCT in detecting early-stage lung cancer and determine its cost and other financial performance measures [78].

In the past two decades, considerable progress has been made in the selection methods, in the modelling of the risk group screened with LDCT and in the interpretation of CT scans. This allows the reduction of the number and frequency of examinations in the programme and limits unnecessary diagnostic procedures.

A positive LDCT result is defined as a non-calcified solitary pulmonary nodule (SPN) having a specific diameter or volume. Pulmonary nodules measuring 2 mm in diameter or smaller are observed on CT scans in most adult individuals [79]. In the NLST, the proportion of positive results, i.e. all nodules measuring 4 mm or larger, was 27% [33]. This is several times higher than that in the NELSON study (2.7%), in which the nodules were assessed volumetrically [30]. In the latter study, however, a broad category of indeterminate nodules (50–500 mm³) was distinguished, that were not included in the positive results [77], and secondly, the mortality reduction data was not published.

A repeat analysis of the I-ELCAP and NLST results [47, 80] has shown that the nodule size that requires a follow-up LDCT sooner than after one year, may be bigger than initially assumed in the NLST.

False positive results account for a considerable proportion of the detected nodules, as only 1–4% of them are early-stage lung cancers [30, 77].

The following methods are used to reduce the number of false positive results:

- Assessment of risk factors: According to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) standards, risk factors include as follows: smoking, exposure to radon, occupational exposure (e.g. silica, heavy metals, soot, asbestos), personal history of cancer (e.g. head and neck cancer in the past), lung cancer in first-degree relatives, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) [81].
- If one additional risk factor is present, the parameters of the target group are lowered from age 55 years and tobacco exposure of ≥ 30 pack-years, to age 50 years and tobacco exposure of ≥ 20 pack-years [81].
- Use of prediction models: With the use of linear regression equations that include the above elements and socioeconomic data, it is possible to estimate the individual risk of developing lung cancer resulting from the characteristics of the population of concern [81, 82]. Only three of many prediction models have provided a more accurate selection of individuals for screening, compared to the criteria used in the NLST [83]. Furthermore, models that take into account the patient's clinical details and the morphological features of the nodule, can determine the degree of probability of the nodule being malignant [76]. Both classes of the prediction models are a great help in individual qualification of subjects for inclusion in a screening programme (shared decision-making), particularly when discussing the benefits and side effects of the programme procedures being planned.
- 4. Advanced image analysis: radiomics, i.e. the evaluation not only of the morphological (semantic) but also the indescribable (agnostic) parameters, which better characterise the imaged tissue [84].
- 5. Determination of genomic or protein biomarkers obtained from the serum, which confirm (positive predictive value) or, in a certain configuration, exclude (negative predictive value) the presence of cancer in the screened patient [85–87].

According to epidemiological data, only 10% of lung cancers occur before the age of 55, while 56% of the cases are found in the 55–74 age group [88]. The remaining 32% are found in patients aged 75 or older.

Determination of the target population is of key importance for the cost effectiveness of the screening programme and the desired improvement in the detectability of early lung cancers [89].

The scenario defined as A-55-80-30-15 (where the letter A signifies annual screening, the numbers "55" and "80" signify the age of starting and ending the screening, respectively, the number "30" refers to tobacco exposure expressed in pack-years, and the number "15" indicates the longest period since smoking cessation) has proved optimal in terms of the balance between the costs (largely the costs of LDCT scans and medical consultations) and the number of lung cancers detected and the number of adverse events that occurred as a result of diagnostic and surgical procedures [90]. The tested prediction models were calibrated on the basis of the NLST and PLCO study results. The above scenario was optimal compared to the 120 scenarios characterised by the variables described above whose values were modified. LDCT performed every 3 years, every 2 years and every year was shown to reduce lung cancer mortality by an average of 6%, almost 10% and about 20%, respectively. In a given scenario, the number of follow-up LDCT examinations and the number of false positive results increases with the number of baseline examinations. For example, a reduction in the number of pack-years to 20 and an increase in the duration of the period since smoking cessation to 25 years (the A-55-80-20-25 scenario) results in a 58% increase in the number of LDCT examinations and a 26% increase in the number of new cases detected. The number of LDCT examinations needed to prevent 1 death of lung cancer increased from 550 to 685 cases (24%). Among all the effective scenarios, the annual LDCT in patients aged 55 to 80 shows a marked benefit while preserving a moderate level of side effects [90]. The results of the analyses and simulations related to the modelling of the population that benefits the most from the lung cancer screening programme using LDCT, have been taken into consideration to the greatest extent in the NCCN recommendations.

The recommendations for inclusion based on the stratification of lung cancer risk are as follows:

Individuals aged 55 to 74 with tobacco exposure of at least 20 pack-years and the non-smoking period of no more than 15 years.

- 2. Individuals aged 50 to 74 with tobacco exposure of at least 20 pack-years, the non-smoking period of no more than 15 years with one of the following risk factors:
 - Occupational exposure to silica, beryllium, nickel, chromium, cadmium, asbestos, arsenic compounds, diesel engine fumes, coal combustion fumes, and soot.
 - Exposure to radon.
 - Personal history of cancer: lung cancer survivor, a history of lymphoma, head and neck cancer or smoking-related cancers, e.g. bladder cancer.
 - Family history of lung cancer in a first-degree relative.
 - History of lung diseases: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) or idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF).

A high-risk individual is included in the programme based on a shared decision made by the subject and their healthcare provider (shared decision-making), who discusses with the individual the principles of the screening programme, the benefits and the side effects of the method based on the following:

- The prediction model by Tammemägi: the lung cancer calculator PLCOm2012.
- The prediction model for the malignant features of a nodule (McWilliams (Pan-Can) model) [76].
- Information materials similar to those offered by the Agency for Healthcare and Research Quality (AHQR) [91].

The interpretation of LDCT findings (the definition of the positive result) and further recommendations are in line with the Lung-RADS included in the screening recommendations NCCN v.1.2017 (see the next paragraph).

- Definition of the false positive result: a solitary pulmonary nodule that requires LDCT and/or diagnostic and surgical procedures within less than one year, and is not an early lung cancer.
- 4. An individual who meets the programme inclusion conditions may become its participant if they give consent to undergo invasive diagnostic procedures and, possibly, surgery.
- An individual included in the programme remains its participant as long as they remain a candidate for treatment with a curative intent.

The A-55-80-30-15 screening scenario turned out to be optimal for economic and medical reasons, i.e. indicated the group in which the allocation of funds in the NLST and PLCO cohorts were the most effective [90]. Taking into account

the over-normative air pollution in Poland and epidemiological data [8], the team of experts proposes the initial scenario A-55-74-20-15, with a reduction of age in the case of an additional risk factor in accordance to the NCCN recommendations. Then, the screening scenario of the target population takes the form of A-50-74-20-15. Cautious estimates indicate that the number of people who meet the inclusion criteria for screening amounts to around 2 million in Poland. Assuming that the cost of LDCT examination with a radiological report and a medical appointment is PLN 300, the estimated cost of the examination of the entire population with increased risk would exceed PLN 600 million.

Annually, about 21 thousand persons is developing lung cancer [8], of which only 17% is undergoing surgical treatment, i.e. in an early (local or loco-regional) stage (Polish National Lung Cancer Registry). Lung cancer screening programmes would most likely increase the percentage of surgically treated cases [27, 28, 30], which are more cost-effective. In the near future, a financial amount can be expected to allow screening 3-5% of the target population.

10. Smoking cessation programme

From the participant's point of view, lung cancer screening is often the first significant intervention that prompts reflection on how smoking affects health. Participants of the screening programme receive a lot of information and signals whose perception and psychological effects on behaviour and decisions have not been fully studied [92].

The risk that lung cancer screening may be treated by its participants as an alternative to smoking cessation to reduce mortality, has been recognised and confirmed by many authors [93].

Social determinants of tobacco dependence come down to the wider propagation among individuals with lower economic status, education level or social rank. As a result, both the awareness of the harmful effects of smoking and of the possibility to receive support is lower than that among the middle class representatives [94].

The costs of adding a cessation intervention to an LDCT lung cancer screening programme increase the total cost by a few to over a dozen percent. At the same time, the cost effectiveness as measured by quality-adjusted life years gained increases 1.7- to 5.4-fold [95].

It is therefore beyond any doubt that combining screening with cessation intervention is justified. There is still the problem of designing the entire intervention in a way to ensure that the percentage of sustained quitters is significantly lower and the relapses are less frequent compared to spontaneous smoking cessation, because the analysis of practical interventions reveals that this is not always possible to achieve [96].

It is also advisable to consider the assessment of lung age conducted in all the participants, given the linear relationship between the lifetime number of cigarettes smoked and pulmonary function, and the strong correlation of lung cancer and COPD [97, 98], and to more actively recruit individuals from economically and/or socially disadvantaged groups to undergo screening.

We propose the following pathway for smoking cessation intervention as part of the screening programme:

I. Allocation to specific intervention paths.

Patients being considered for LDCT screening are allocated to one of the following three groups on the basis of their declarations: active smokers, former smokers-abstinent for less than 12 months, and former smokers-abstinent for more than 12 months. By joining the LDCT screening programme, the participants agree to the cessation intervention.

- II. Active smokers during the screening programme undergo the following diagnostic evaluations:
- A standardised interview to assess smoking intensity and the severity of dependence (Fagerström).
- A test of motivation for smoking cessation (Schneider).
- Measurement of exhaled carbon monoxide (Smokerlyzer) or salivary cotinine.
- An assessment of depression (Beck's scale).

On the basis of the above evaluations, patients are provided with appropriate support in the form of consultation, psychotherapy sessions and education. Pharmacological support includes nicotine replacement therapy as the first-choice treatment, and cytisine, varenicline and bupropion if previous treatment failed or if the patient has absolute or relative contraindications to nicotine-containing products. Patients with a positive evaluation of depression are advised to register at an outpatient psychiatric facility.

III. Patients declaring abstinence from smoking for less than 12 months undergo Smokerlyzer testing (or cotinine testing, if Smokerlyzer testing is not possible) and if their nonsmoking status is confirmed, they take a test measuring their motivation to continue not to smoke and undergo a short intervention reinforcing their decision to quit smoking.

- IV. Patients declaring abstinence from smoking for more than 12 months receive a consultation to reinforce their motivation to maintain the non-smoking status.
- V. All the individuals being considered for the screening programme are asked about the exposure to passive smoke in their workplace or at home. If such exposure is identified, an invitation is extended via the patient to the patient's relatives and co-workers to participate in the cessation intervention.

11. Evaluation and treatment of lesions detected on screening examinations

One of the most important topics related to the conduct of programmes for early detection of lung cancer using LDCT is the implementation of a detailed algorithm for the diagnosis and treatment of the detected nodules, as most of these nodules are benign [55]. The risk of overlooking early lung cancer must be minimised, while meeting the criteria for high specificity of the management in order to limit the unnecessary invasive diagnostic and therapeutic interventions [39, 99]. It is very important in this context to use the new pathological classification system for adenocarcinomas and its correlation with the radiological appearance of the nodules [100, 101].

The size of the nodule and its characteristics play a significant role in deciding the further course of action and determines whether the individual will undergo observation, invasive diagnostic evaluation or treatment [101]. One-dimensional measurement of the nodule diameter is recommended. Data on the use of volume measurement and the volume doubling time (VDT) are very promising but require further evaluation [50, 102]. Adoption of the lower value of the diameter is of fundamental significance for the sensitivity of screening, and hence the proportion of false positive results [103].

There is currently no commonly accepted testing protocol related to a procedural algorithm in all the guidelines. We propose to follow the Fleischner Society guidelines, adopted by the National Cancer Comprehensive Network for studies of early detection of lung cancer [81, 104, 105]. Nodules detected on LDCT require further evaluation based on the category they are assigned to by the radiologist: solid, part-solid or non-solid. According to the National Comprehensive Cancer Network guidelines, nodule assignment should be based on the analysis of the radiological image according to the guidelines of the American College of Radiology Lung (RADS) [46, 106]. The

management in each of the category is based on the nodule size.

Solid nodules

Nodules < 6 mm (Lung-RADS category 2, probability of lung cancer < 1%) require a repeat LDCT after 12 months until the risk of malignancy is excluded.

Nodules 6–7 mm (Lung-RADS category 3, probability of lung cancer 1–2%) require a repeat LDCT after 6 months.

Nodules 8 to 14 mm (Lung-RADS category 4A, probability of lung cancer 5–15%) require a repeat LDCT after 3 months or consideration of PET-CT, which is one of the many diagnostic methods available for lung cancer detection. The sensitivity of PET-CT for nodules < 8 mm is insufficient to consider this modality a routine diagnostic procedure [102].

Nodules \geq 15 mm (Lung-RADS category 4B, probability of lung cancer > 15%) require chest CT with contrast and/or PET-CT.

Endobronchial nodules require a repeat LDCT after 1 month or directly after an episode of acute cough. In the case of equivocal findings, flexible bronchoscopy should be performed.

Patients who have undergone PET-CT should be managed as follows:

Where there is low suspicion of lung cancer, LDCT after 3 months is recommended.

Where there is high suspicion of lung cancer, a fine-needle biopsy is recommended with aspiration of an adequate amount of material for histological and molecular examination [102, 104], or surgical resection of the nodule. Where the biopsy rules out malignancy, the patient should undergo LDCT after 12 months of observation.

Part-solid nodules

Nodules $< 6 \,\mathrm{mm}$ (Lung-RADS category 2, probability of lung cancer < 1%) require a repeat LDCT after 12 months until the risk of malignancy is excluded.

Nodules ≥ 6 mm with solid component < 6 mm (Lung-RADS category 3, probability of lung cancer 1–2%) require a repeat LDCT after 6 months.

Nodules ≥6 mm or with solid component 6–7 mm (Lung-RADS category 4A, probability of lung cancer 5–15%) require a repeat LDCT after 3 months or consideration of PET-CT.

Nodules with solid component ≥ 8 mm (Lung-RADS category 4B, probability of lung cancer > 15%) require chest CT with contrast and/or PET-CT.

Patients who have undergone PET-CT should be managed as follows:

Where there is low suspicion of lung cancer, LDCT after 3 months is recommended.

Where there is high suspicion of lung cancer, a fine-needle biopsy is recommended with aspiration of an adequate amount of material for histological and molecular examination [102, 104], or surgical resection of the nodule. Where the biopsy rules out malignancy, the patient should undergo LDCT after 12 months of observation.

Non-solid nodules

Nodules < 20 mm require observation and LDCT after 12 months until the risk of malignancy is excluded.

Nodules > 20 mm require a repeat LDCT after 6 months.

For solid, part-solid and non-solid nodules, appropriate management protocols are used in the follow-up of the detected lesions.

Treatment of early lung cancer detected on screening follows the guidelines on the treatment of lung cancer adopted by the Polish Oncology Union. Selected aspects related to non-solid nodules are discussed in the section on the recommendations for surgical treatment.

12. Pathology

Lung cancers include a group of non-small-cell lung carcinomas, which account for about 85% of all primary lung cancers, with the remaining 15% being small-cell lung carcinomas [107]. Among the histologic types of non-small-cell lung carcinoma, adenocarcinoma is the most common (approx. 43.2%), followed by squamous cell carcinoma (approx. 22.8%) [108].

The WHO Classification of Tumours of the Lung, Pleura, Thymus and Heart published in 2015 introduces the principles of lung cancer diagnosis using small biopsies and cytology and proposes a new classification of adenocarcinoma [109]. The term bronchioloalveolar carcinoma (BAC) has been replaced by the following terminology:

- adenocarcinoma in situ (AIS),
- minimally invasive adenocarcinoma (MIA),
- invasive adenocarcinoma [109, 110].

Adenocarcinoma in situ and minimally invasive adenocarcinoma usually refer to a solitary lesion or, less frequently, to multifocal lesions measuring ≤ 3 cm in diameter characterised by the lepidic pattern on microscopic examination.

In AIS, no stromal or pleural invasion and no tumour cell emboli in blood and lymphatic vessels are observed, while MIA is characterised by the presence of small foci of invasion ≤ 0.5 cm in diameter in a single field. Invasion is defined as the presence of a non-lepidic growth pattern, most commonly papillary, micropapillary, acinar, solid or mucinous, and the appearance of foci of stromal invasion [109, 110].

Both lesions are most commonly non-mucinous adenocarcinomas, and mucinous AIS and MIS are extremely rare.

On chest CT, both non-mucinous AIS and MIA appear as ground glass nodules (GGN) [110]. The diagnosis of AIS and MIA is not possible on the basis of tissue biopsy or cytology, and requires microscopic evaluation of an entire surgically resected lesion. Needle biopsy or intraoperative examination of GGN to establish the diagnosis are not recommended. Both types of lesion carry a very favourable prognosis, with 100% of the patients surviving 5 years after radical surgery [109, 110].

The most recent, eighth edition of the TNM classification of lung cancer (2016) introduced a new principle of pathological evaluation of tumour size (pT) for tumours with part-solid appearance on CT (part-solid non-mucinous adenocarcinoma). Apart from total tumour diameter, it is now essential to determine the size of the solid component of the tumour, which corresponds to the actual invasive component. Reporting the both sizes is therefore recommended, although only the pT category is affected by the invasive component [111].

Invasive adenocarcinoma is defined as a tumour with morphological structures suggestive of glandular pattern of differentiation on standard (H&E) microscopic examination (tubular, papillary or micropapillary structures) or with mucin in the tumour cells on histochemical examination, or with the expression of immunohistochemical markers of glandular differentiation (TTF-1, napsin A, CK7) [109]. Adenocarcinomas are an extremely heterogeneous group of tumours in terms of morphology and genetics [112, 113]. The number of mutations identified in lung adenocarcinomas are very large, and new mutations are constantly being discovered. However, targeted therapies are only available for some of them. The most common mutations are EGFR, KRAS, BRAF and NRAF mutations and ALK, ROS1 and MET rearrangements [109, 114, 115]. The morphology of adenocarcinoma does not only indicate its degree of differentiation but also allows to predict the possibility of mutations, mainly EGFR, ALK and KRAS mutations [113, 115, 116].

Lepidic carcinomas are well-differentiated tumours with favourable prognosis and often

show *EGFR* mutations. *EGFR* mutations are often seen in acinar, papillary and micropapillary carcinomas. Solid tumours with a component of signet ring differentiation and acinar tumours with cribriform structures may show *ALK* rearrangements, while mucinous tumours may display *KRAS* mutations [113, 116]. In view of the above, the histopathological diagnosis of invasive adenocarcinoma of the lung requires specification of the predominant morphological pattern and the proportions of the remaining microscopic components, especially those that indicate a more aggressive course of the disease (solid and micropapillary components) [109].

13. Additional programmes accompanying lung cancer screening

In 2010, the WHO published guidelines on cancer screening methodology. The document stated that the four most common causes of death in the modern world are cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and cancer. All these conditions have the same risk factors and, given the fact that all four are preventable, it is recommended that, if possible, screening covering all these illnesses should be provided together [117]. Low-dose computed tomography offers the possibility to assess the severity of coronary artery calcification on the scan images, i.e. the CAC score, and the severity of emphysema using a dedicated software. Performing spirometry in the participants of the screening programme will enable the diagnosis of COPD.

The assessment of the coronary artery calcium (CAC) score or the severity of coronary artery calcification is feasible on LDCT, and has been demonstrated to be non-inferior to contrast -enhanced CT with ECG gating in assessing the risk of death and coronary events. The presence of calcifications directly points to the presence of subclinical coronary artery disease in the individual, and the intensity of calcifications corresponds to the severity of the process. The CAC score assessment was included in the ACC/ AHA guidelines in 2010, and in the European Society of Cardiology guidelines in 2012, as Class Ha recommendation (designation as a useful and valuable method). The CAC score can easily be assessed and measured in each LDCT performed in screening programmes, which is currently recommended in countries where such programmes are in place. The CAC score is considered a valuable cardiovascular risk marker in asymptomatic adults over the age of 40 [118-120].

Emphysema and COPD are known positive predictors of lung cancer risk, affecting not only lung cancer incidence but also all-cause mortality. Epidemiological studies, including lung cancer screening programmes, have demonstrated a 2to 4-fold increase in new cases of lung cancer in patients with COPD compared to healthy individuals. This risk is partially due to emphysema susceptible for qualitative or semi-quantitative evaluation on LDCT scans. Emphysema is a stand-alone risk factor of lung cancer also in non-smokers. Risk scales have been developed for COPD patients to identify individuals at an increased risk of developing lung cancer, which considerably increases the effectiveness of screening programmes, while reducing the side effects. Patients with COPD should be included in lung cancer screening programmes. Additionally, the detection of COPD in patients unaware of having this condition, will allow them to receive the preventive and therapeutic intervention in the form of a smoking cessation programme and appropriate treatment [121].

The additional performance of simple and inexpensive tests in the participants of the lung cancer screening programme, such as a standardised measurement of blood pressure, cholesterol and HbA1c (glycated haemoglobin), will allow the detection of undiagnosed conditions in a large proportion of these individuals, and in order to provide them with appropriate treatment, adjust treatment in those inadequately managed.

14. Quality evaluation and training/education. Registration and certification of the centres

A Centre for Early Lung Cancer Detection Studies (CELCDS) should be a centre that meets the quality requirements specified in the operating guidelines prepared by Scientific Societies and/or by the Ministry of Health published in the future as the official announcement. The CELCDS should operate in centres with a high level of competency and be closely associated with the strategy for the diagnosis and treatment of lung cancer prepared by the Ministry of Health.

- A. The activities of the centres are subject to **total quality management** (TQM) with the use of effectiveness (quality) indicators specified by Scientific Societies and/or the Minister of Health.
- B. For the purposes of the reporting and monitoring of the diagnostic and therapeutic processes and their outcomes, the Screening Registry is created to include all the evaluated and treated patients.

- C. The CELCDS follows the operating guidelines (published in the future as the official announcement of the Minister of Health), which are subject to monitoring and quality assessment (peer review, benchmark etc.).
- D. The CELCDS reports the completed activities and the key results of the studies, which is necessary for reconciliation of the services and for monitoring of the quality and effectiveness, and for research purposes. The **Lung Cancer Registry** is created from the reported data.
- E. Early lung cancer detection studies are subject to a pilot study (e.g. 3 to 5 centres), which will allow the detailed conditions for commissioning these centres on the national scale, to be defined.
- F. The CELCDS reports the completed activities and the key results of the studies, which is necessary for reconciliation of the services and for monitoring of the quality and effectiveness, and for research purposes. The **Screening Registry** is created from the reported data.
- G. New CELCDS was created basing on training at the existing centres of competence identified in the pilot programme after obtaining accreditation from the Ministry of Health.

15. Involvement of thoracic surgeons in preparation of screening programmes

Surgeons should be engaged in the screening programme and play an important role in its preparation and implementation. Thoracic surgeons perform a major function within the multidisciplinary tumour board and his/her decisions must be in conformity with current recommendations concerning diagnosis and treatment of early non-small cell lung cancer detected in the screening. The main goal is to participate actively in the diagnostic workup and decision making to eliminate or minimise surgery for benign conditions. The extent of surgery for benign lesions during CT screening should be monitored and reported as an indication of surgical quality. Moreover, important surgeons' tasks in the screening team are the following: optimission of the management of screen detected nodule, reduction of false positive rates of surgical biopsies and decline of surgery related trauma.

A thoracic surgeon participating in the screening programme, should fulfil the requirements and qualifications described in the "Recommendations from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) regarding computed

tomography screening for lung cancer in Europe" prepared and published in European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery by the group of ESTS experts [31]. We recommend to strictly follow these recommendations in the preparation and implementation of lung cancer screening programme in appointed centres.

Conflict of interest

Witold Rzyman and Mariusz Adamek developed the concept and design of the Consensus statement on a screening programme for the detection of early lung cancer in Poland.

All of the authors contributed equally to developing the Consensus statement on a screening programme for the detection of early lung cancer in Poland.

References:

- Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Ervik M, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, et al. GLOBOCAN 2012 v1.0, Cancer Incidence and Mortality Worldwide: IARC CancerBase, Lyon, Fr Int Agency Res Cancer. 2013; 11. http://globocan.iarc.f. doi:10.1016/j.ucl.2013.01.011 (2013).
- Thun MJ, Henley SJ, Burns D, et al. Lung cancer death rates in lifelong nonsmokers. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006; 98(10): 691–699, doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj187, indexed in Pubmed: 16705123.
- Couraud S, Souquet PJ, Paris C, et al. French Cooperative Intergroup IFCT. BioCAST/IFCT-1002: epidemiological and molecular features of lung cancer in never-smokers. Eur Respir J. 2015; 45(5): 1403–1414, doi: 10.1183/09031936.00097214, indexed in Pubmed: 25657019.
- Levi F, Lucchini F, Negri E, et al. The end of the tobacco-related lung cancer epidemic in Europe. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2003; 95(8): 631–632, indexed in Pubmed: 12697861.
- Malvezzi M, Bertuccio P, Rosso T, et al. European cancer mortality predictions for the year 2015: does lung cancer have the highest death rate in EU women? Ann Oncol. 2015; 26(4): 779–786, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv001, indexed in Pubmed: 25623049.
- Novello S, Barlesi F, Califano R, et al. Metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up†. Annals of Oncology. 2016; 27(suppl_5): v1-v27, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdw326.
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, et al. Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin. 2015; 65(2): 87–108, doi: 10.3322/ caac.21262, indexed in Pubmed: 25651787.
- 8. Wojciechowska U, Didkowska J. Nowotwory w Polsce w 2012 roku. Nowotwory. Journal of Oncology. 2013; 63(3): 197–216, doi: 10.5603/njo.2013.0001.
- Doll R, Hill AB, DOLL R, et al. Smoking and carcinoma of the lung; preliminary report. Br Med J. 1950; 2(4682): 739–748, indexed in Pubmed: 14772469.
- Boyland E, Roe FJ, Gorrod JW. Induction of pulmonary tumours in mice by nitrosonornicotine, a possible constituent of tobacco smoke. Nature. 1964; 202: 1126, indexed in Pubmed: 14207219.
- Doll R, Peto R. Cigarette smoking and bronchial carcinoma: dose and time relationships among regular smokers and lifelong non-smokers. J Epidemiol Community Health. 1978; 32(4): 303–313, indexed in Pubmed: 744822.
- Lopez AD, Collishaw NE, Piha T. A descriptive model of the cigarette epidemic in developed countries. Tobacco Control. 1994; 3(3): 242–247, doi: 10.1136/tc.3.3.242.
- Didkowska J, Wojciechowska U, Koskinen HL, et al. Future lung cancer incidence in Poland and Finland based on forecasts on hypothetical changes in smoking habits. Acta Oncol. 2011; 50(1): 81–87, doi: 10.3109/0284186X.2010.488247, indexed in Pubmed: 20553096.
- Allemani C, Weir HK, Carreira H, et al. CONCORD Working Group. Global surveillance of cancer survival 1995-2009:

- analysis of individual data for 25,676,887 patients from 279 population-based registries in 67 countries (CONCORD-2). Lancet. 2015; 385(9972): 977–1010, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62038-9, indexed in Pubmed: 25467588.
- 15. DeVita VT, Hellman S, Rosenberg SA. Cancer: principles and practice of oncology collections. Climate Change 2013

 The Physical Science Basis. 2005: 1–30, doi: 10.1017/cbo9781107415324.004.
- 16. Krzakowski M, Potemski P, Warzocha K, et al. Nowotwory płuca, opłucnej i śródpiersia. Onkol Klin.: 523–571.
- Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Akerley W, et al. NCCN Guidelines Insights: Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer, Version 4.2016. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2016; 14(3): 255–264, indexed in Pubmed: 26957612.
- Sartori G, Cavazza A, Sgambato A, et al. EGFR and K-ras mutations along the spectrum of pulmonary epithelial tumors of the lung and elaboration of a combined clinicopathologic and molecular scoring system to predict clinical responsiveness to EGFR inhibitors. Am J Clin Pathol. 2009; 131(4): 478–489, doi: 10.1309/AJCPH0TRMPXVZW2F, indexed in Pubmed: 19289583
- Takahashi T, Sonobe M, Kobayashi M, et al. Clinicopathologic features of non-small-cell lung cancer with EML4-ALK fusion gene. Ann Surg Oncol. 2010; 17(3): 889–897, doi: 10.1245/ s10434-009-0808-7, indexed in Pubmed: 20183914.
- Slebos RJ, Hruban RH, Dalesio O, et al. Relationship between K-ras oncogene activation and smoking in adenocarcinoma of the human lung. J Natl Cancer Inst. 1991; 83(14): 1024–1027, indexed in Pubmed: 2072410.
- Wilson JM, Jungner YG. [Principles and practice of mass screening for disease]. Bol Oficina Sanit Panam. 1968; 65(4): 281–393, indexed in Pubmed: 4234760.
- 22. Law MR, Morris JK, Watt HC, et al. The dose-response relationship between cigarette consumption, biochemical markers and risk of lung cancer. Br J Cancer. 1997; 75(11): 1690–1693, indexed in Pubmed: 9184188.
- Oken M, Hocking W, Kvale P, et al. Screening by Chest Radiograph and Lung Cancer Mortality. JAMA. 2011; 306(17): 1865–1873, doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.1591.
- Kubo T, Lin PJP, Stiller W, et al. Radiation dose reduction in chest CT: a review. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2008; 190(2): 335– 343, doi: 10.2214/AJR.07.2556, indexed in Pubmed: 18212218.
- Lee JiY, Chung MJ, Yi CA, et al. Ultra-low-dose MDCT of the chest: influence on automated lung nodule detection. Korean J Radiol. 2008; 9(2): 95–101, doi: 10.3348/kjr.2008.9.2.95, indexed in Pubmed: 18385555.
- Marshall HM, Bowman RV, Yang IA, et al. Screening for lung cancer with low-dose computed tomography: a review of current status. J Thorac Dis. 2013; 5 Suppl 5: S524–S539, doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2072-1439.2013.09.06, indexed in Pubmed: 24163745.
- 27. Henschke CI, Yankelevitz DF, Libby DM, et al. International Early Lung Cancer Action Program Investigators. Survival of patients with stage I lung cancer detected on CT screening. N Engl J Med. 2006; 355(17): 1763–1771, doi: 10.1056/NEJ-Moa060476, indexed in Pubmed: 17065637.
- Moyer VA. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for lung cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med. 2014; 160(5): 330–338, doi: 10.7326/M13-2771. indexed in Pubmed: 24378917.
- 29. Horeweg N, van der Aalst CM, Thunnissen E, et al. Characteristics of lung cancers detected by computer tomography screening in the randomized NELSON trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2013; 187(8): 848–854, doi: 10.1164/rccm. 201209-1651OC, indexed in Pubmed: 23348977.
- Kauczor HU, Bonomo L, Gaga M, et al. European Society of Radiology (ESR), European Respiratory Society (ERS), European Society of Radiology (ESR), European Respiratory Society (ERS). ESR/ERS white paper on lung cancer screening. Eur Radiol. 2015; 25(9): 2519–2531, doi: 10.1007/s00330-015-3697-0, indexed in Pubmed: 25929939.
- 31. Pedersen JH, Rzyman W, Veronesi G, et al. Recommendations from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) regarding computed tomography screening for lung cancer in Europe. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2017; 51(3): 411–420, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezw418, indexed in Pubmed: 28137752.
- 32. Field JK, Duffy SW, Baldwin DR, et al. UK Lung Cancer RCT

- Pilot Screening Trial: baseline findings from the screening arm provide evidence for the potential implementation of lung cancer screening. Thorax. 2016; 71(2): 161–170, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207140, indexed in Pubmed: 26645413.
- Aberle DR, Adams AM, Berg CD, et al. National Lung Screening Trial Research Team. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. N Engl J Med. 2011; 365(5): 395–409, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1102873, indexed in Pubmed: 21714641.
- Sverzellati N, Silva M, Calareso G, et al. Low-dose computed tomography for lung cancer screening: comparison of performance between annual and biennial screen. Eur Radiol. 2016; 26(11): 3821–3829, doi: 10.1007/s00330-016-4228-3, indexed in Pubmed: 26868497.
- Paci E, Puliti D, Lopes Pegna A, et al. the ITALUNG Working Group. Mortality, survival and incidence rates in the ITALUNG randomised lung cancer screening trial. Thorax. 2017; 72(9): 825–831, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209825, indexed in Pubmed: 28377492.
- Infante M, Cavuto S, Lutman FR, et al. DANTE Study Group. Long-Term Follow-up Results of the DANTE Trial, a Rando-mized Study of Lung Cancer Screening with Spiral Computed Tomography. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2015; 191(10): 1166–1175, doi: 10.1164/rccm.201408-1475OC, indexed in Pubmed: 25760561.
- Wille MMW, Dirksen A, Ashraf H, et al. Results of the Randomized Danish Lung Cancer Screening Trial with Focus on High-Risk Profiling. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016; 193(5): 542–551, doi: 10.1164/rccm.201505-1040OC, indexed in Pubmed: 26485620.
- van Klaveren RJ, Oudkerk M, Prokop M, et al. Management of lung nodules detected by volume CT scanning. N Engl J Med. 2009; 361(23): 2221–2229, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0906085, indexed in Pubmed: 19955524.
- 39. Rzyman W, Jelitto-Gorska M, Dziedzic R, et al. Diagnostic work-up and surgery in participants of the Gdansk lung cancer screening programme: the incidence of surgery for non-malignant conditions. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg. 2013; 17(6): 969–973, doi: 10.1093/icvts/ivt388, indexed in Pubmed: 24008181.
- Rzyman W, Dziedzic R, Jelitto-Górska M, et al. Results of an open-access lung cancer screening program with low-dose computed tomography: the Gdańsk experience. Pol Arch Med Wewn. 2015; 125(4): 232–239, indexed in Pubmed: 25764248.
- 41. Frauenfelder T, Puhan MA, Lazor R, et al. expert panel. Early detection of lung cancer: a statement from an expert panel of the Swiss university hospitals on lung cancer screening. Respiration. 2014; 87(3): 254–264, doi: 10.1159/000357049, indexed in Pubmed: 24458197.
- 42. Vansteenkiste J, Crinò L, Dooms C, et al. Panel Members. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference on Lung Cancer: early-stage non -small-cell lung cancer consensus on diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2014; 25(8): 1462–1474, doi: 10.1093/ annonc/mdu089, indexed in Pubmed: 24562446.
- Baldwin DR, Callister ME. The British Thoracic Society guidelines on the investigation and management of pulmonary nodules. Thorax. 2015; 70 (8): 794–798, doi: doi:10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207221.
- 44. Oudkerk M, Devaraj A, Vliegenthart R, et al. European position statement on lung cancer screening. Lancet Oncol. 2017; 18(12): e754–e766, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30861-6, indexed in Pubmed: 29208441.
- $45. \ \ European \ Commission. \ 2009, \ doi: \ 10.1787/dcr-2009-graph 32-en.$
- McKee BJ, Regis SM, McKee AB, et al. Performance of ACR Lung-RADS in a clinical CT lung screening program. J Am Coll Radiol. 2015; 12(3): 273–276, doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2014.08.004, indexed in Pubmed: 25176499.
- 47. Pinsky PF, Gierada DS, Black W, et al. Performance of Lung-RADS in the National Lung Screening Trial: a retrospective assessment. Ann Intern Med. 2015; 162(7): 485–491, doi: 10.7326/M14-2086, indexed in Pubmed: 25664444.
- American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2016.
 Cancer Facts Fig 2016. 2016: 1–9. doi:10.1097/01.
 NNR.0000289503.22414.79. 2016.
- 49. Crestanello JA, Allen MS, Jett JR, et al. Thoracic surgical operations in patients enrolled in a computed tomographic screening

- trial. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2004; 128(2): 254–259, doi: 10.1016/j.jtcvs.2004.02.017, indexed in Pubmed: 15282462.
- Horeweg N, van der Aalst CM, Vliegenthart R, et al. Volumetric computed tomography screening for lung cancer: three rounds of the NELSON trial. Eur Respir J. 2013; 42(6): 1659–1667, doi: 10.1183/09031936.00197712, indexed in Pubmed: 23845716.
- Rampinelli C, De Marco P, Origgi D, et al. Exposure to low dose computed tomography for lung cancer screening and risk of cancer: secondary analysis of trial data and risk-benefit analysis. BMJ. 2017; 356: j347, indexed in Pubmed: 28179230.
- Patz EF, Pinsky P, Gatsonis C, et al. NLST Overdiagnosis Manuscript Writing Team. Overdiagnosis in low-dose computed tomography screening for lung cancer. JAMA Intern Med. 2014; 174(2): 269–274, doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.12738, indexed in Pubmed: 24322569.
- 53. Gareen IF, Duan F, Greco EM, et al. Impact of lung cancer screening results on participant health-related quality of life and state anxiety in the National Lung Screening Trial. Cancer. 2014; 120(21): 3401–3409, doi: 10.1002/cncr.28833, indexed in Pubmed: 25065710.
- 54. van den Bergh KAM, Essink-Bot ML, Bunge EM, et al. Impact of computed tomography screening for lung cancer on participants in a randomized controlled trial (NELSON trial). Cancer. 2008; 113(2): 396–404, doi: 10.1002/cncr.23590, indexed in Pubmed: 18484588.
- 55. Rocco G, Allen MS, Altorki NK, et al. Clinical statement on the role of the surgeon and surgical issues relating to computed tomography screening programs for lung cancer. Ann Thorac Surg. 2013; 96(1): 357–360, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2013.05.067, indexed in Pubmed: 23816098.
- Lung CT Screening Reporting and Data System (Lung-RADSTM). Am Coll Radiol. http://www.acr.org/Quality-Safety/Resources/LungRA.
- Fintelmann FJ, Bernheim A, Digumarthy SR, et al. The 10 Pillars of Lung Cancer Screening: Rationale and Logistics of a Lung Cancer Screening Program. Radiographics. 2015; 35(7): 1893–1908, doi: 10.1148/rg.2015150079, indexed in Pubmed: 26495797.
- Mazzone P, Powell C, Arenberg D, et al. Components Necessary for High-Quality Lung Cancer Screening. Chest. 2015; 147(2): 295–303, doi: 10.1378/chest.14-2500.
- McMahon PM, Kong CY, Bouzan C, et al. Cost-effectiveness of computed tomography screening for lung cancer in the United States. J Thorac Oncol. 2011; 6(11): 1841–1848, doi: 10.1097/ JTO.0b013e31822e59b3, indexed in Pubmed: 21892105.
- Goffin JR, Flanagan WM, Miller AB, et al. Cost-effectiveness of lung cancer screening in Canada. JAMA Oncol. 2015; 1(6): 807–813, doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.2472, indexed in Pubmed: 26226181.
- Pedersen JH, Tønnesen P, Ashraf H. Smoking cessation and lung cancer screening. Ann Transl Med. 2016; 4: 157, doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.03.5.
- 62. Henschke CI, McCauley DI, Yankelevitz DF, et al. Early Lung Cancer Action Project: overall design and findings from baseline screening. Lancet. 1999; 354(9173): 99–105, doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(99)06093-6. indexed in Pubmed: 10408484.
- 63. Yankelevitz DF, Reeves AP, Kostis WJ, et al. Small pulmonary nodules: volumetrically determined growth rates based on CT evaluation. Radiology. 2000; 217(1): 251–256, doi: 10.1148/ radiology.217.1.r00oc33251, indexed in Pubmed: 11012453.
- 64. Henschke CI, Yankelevitz DF, Libby DM, et al. Early lung cancer action project: annual screening using single-slice helical CT. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2001; 952: 124–134, indexed in Pubmed: 11795431.
- Croswell JM, Baker SG, Marcus PM, et al. Cumulative incidence of false-positive test results in lung cancer screening: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2010; 152(8): 505–12, W176, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-152-8-201004200-00007, indexed in Pubmed: 20404381.
- 66. Kazerooni EA, Austin JHM, Black WC, et al. American College of Radiology, Society of Thoracic Radiology. ACR-STR practice parameter for the performance and reporting of lung cancer screening thoracic computed tomography (CT): 2014 (Resolution 4). J Thorac Imaging. 2014; 29(5): 310–316, doi: 10.1097/ RTI.000000000000000097, indexed in Pubmed: 24992501.
- 67. Fujita M, Higaki T, Awaya Y, et al. Lung cancer screening with ultra-low dose CT using full iterative reconstruction. Jpn J

- Radiol. 2017; 35(4): 179–189, doi: 10.1007/s11604-017-0618-y, indexed in Pubmed: 28197820.
- 68. Berrington de González A, Kim KP, Berg CD. Low-dose lung computed tomography screening before age 55: estimates of the mortality reduction required to outweigh the radiation-induced cancer risk. J Med Screen. 2008; 15(3): 153–158, doi: 10.1258/jms.2008.008052. indexed in Pubmed: 18927099.
- Lung Cancer Screen Protoc Am Assoc Phys Med. http://www.aapm.org/pubs/CTProtocols/documents/LungCancerScreeningCT.pdf.
- Decis Memo Screen Lung Cancer with Low Dose Comput Tomogr (LDCT) (CAG-00439N) Centers Medicare Medicaid Serv. http://www.cms.gov/medicare-coverage-database/details/ nca-decision-memo.aspx?NCAId=274.
- Donnelly EF. Technical parameters and interpretive issues in screening computed tomography scans for lung cancer. J Thorac Imaging. 2012; 27(4): 224–229, doi: 10.1097/RTI.0b013e3182568019, indexed in Pubmed: 22847590.
- Gietema HA, Wang Y, Xu D, et al. Pulmonary nodules detected at lung cancer screening: interobserver variability of semiautomated volume measurements. Radiology. 2006; 241(1): 251–257, doi: 10.1148/radiol.2411050860, indexed in Pubmed: 16908677.
- 73. Horeweg N, van Rosmalen J, Heuvelmans MA, et al. Lung cancer probability in patients with CT-detected pulmonary nodules: a prespecified analysis of data from the NELSON trial of low-dose CT screening. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(12): 1332–1341, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(14)70389-4, indexed in Pubmed: 25282285.
- 74. Walter JE, Heuvelmans MA, de Jong PA, et al. Occurrence and lung cancer probability of new solid nodules at incidence screening with low-dose CT: analysis of data from the randomised, controlled NELSON trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016; 17(7): 907–916, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30069-9, indexed in Pubmed: 27283862.
- Herder GJ, van Tinteren H, Golding RP, et al. Clinical prediction model to characterize pulmonary nodules: validation and added value of 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. Chest. 2005; 128(4): 2490–2496, doi: 10.1378/chest.128.4.2490, indexed in Pubmed: 16236914.
- McWilliams A, Tammemagi MC, Mayo JR, et al. Probability of cancer in pulmonary nodules detected on first screening CT. N Engl J Med. 2013; 369(10): 910–919, doi: 10.1056/NEJ-Moa1214726, indexed in Pubmed: 24004118.
- 77. Shlomi D, Ben-Avi R, Balmor GR, et al. Screening for lung cancer: time for large-scale screening by chest computed tomography. Eur Respir J. 2014; 44(1): 217–238, doi: 10.1183/09031936.00164513, indexed in Pubmed: 24525442.
- 78. Pyenson BS, Henschke CI, Yankelevitz DF, et al. Offering lung cancer screening to high-risk medicare beneficiaries saves lives and is cost-effective: an actuarial analysis. Am Health Drug Benefits. 2014; 7(5): 272–282, indexed in Pubmed: 25237423.
- Rubin GD. Lung nodule and cancer detection in computed tomography screening. J Thorac Imaging. 2015; 30(2): 130–138, doi: 10.1097/RTI.000000000000140, indexed in Pubmed: 25658477.
- 80. Henschke CI, Yip R, Yankelevitz DF, et al. International Early Lung Cancer Action Program Investigators*. Definition of a positive test result in computed tomography screening for lung cancer: a cohort study. Ann Intern Med. 2013; 158(4): 246–252, doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-4-201302190-00004, indexed in Pubmed: 23420233.
- Wood DE. National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN) Clinical Practice Guidelines for Lung Cancer Screening. Thorac Surg Clin. 2015; 25: 185–197, doi: 10.1016/j.thorsurg.2014.12.003.
- 82. Tammemägi MC, Church TR, Hocking WG, et al. Evaluation of the lung cancer risks at which to screen ever- and neversmokers: screening rules applied to the PLCO and NLST cohorts. PLoS Med. 2014; 11(12): e1001764, doi: 10.1371/journal. pmed.1001764, indexed in Pubmed: 25460915.
- 83. Tammemägi MC. Application of risk prediction models to lung cancer screening: a review. J Thorac Imaging. 2015; 30(2): 88–100, doi: 10.1097/RTI.00000000000142, indexed in Pubmed: 25692785.

- 84. Mulshine JL, D'Amico TA. Issues with implementing a high-quality lung cancer screening program. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014; 64(5): 352–363, doi: 10.3322/caac.21239, indexed in Pubmed: 24976072.
- 85. Silvestri GA, Vachani A, Whitney D, et al. AEGIS Study Team. A Bronchial Genomic Classifier for the Diagnostic Evaluation of Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015; 373(3): 243–251, doi: 10.1056/NEIMoa1504601, indexed in Pubmed: 25981554.
- Vachani A, Pass HI, Rom WN, et al. Validation of a multiprotein plasma classifier to identify benign lung nodules. J Thorac Oncol. 2015; 10(4): 629–637, doi: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000447, indexed in Pubmed: 25590604.
- 87. Atwater T, Massion PP. Biomarkers of risk to develop lung cancer in the new screening era. Ann Transl Med. 2016; 4(8): 158, doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.03.46, indexed in Pubmed: 27195276.
- Didkowska J, Wojciechowska U, Mańczuk M, et al. Lung cancer epidemiology: contemporary and future challenges worldwide. Ann Transl Med. 2016; 4(8): 150, doi: 10.21037/ atm.2016.03.11, indexed in Pubmed: 27195268.
- Adamek M, Wachuła E, Szabłowska-Siwik S, et al. Risk factors assessment and risk prediction models in lung cancer screening candidates. Ann Transl Med. 2016; 4(8): 151, doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.04.03, indexed in Pubmed: 27195269.
- 90. de Koning HJ, Meza R, Plevritis SK, et al. Benefits and harms of computed tomography lung cancer screening strategies: a comparative modeling study for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med. 2014; 160(5): 311–320, doi: 10.7326/ M13-2316, indexed in Pubmed: 24379002.
- 91. https://www.effectivehealthcare.ahrq.gov/index.cfm/tools-and-resources/patient-decision-aids/lung-cancer-screening/.
- 92. Quaife SL, Janes SM. Lung cancer screening: improving understanding of the psychological impact. Thorax. 2016; 71(11): 971–972, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-208966, indexed in Pubmed: 27581619.
- Zeliadt SB, Heffner JL, Sayre G, et al. Attitudes and Perceptions About Smoking Cessation in the Context of Lung Cancer Screening. JAMA Intern Med. 2015; 175(9): 1530–1537, doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.3558, indexed in Pubmed: 26214612.
- 94. Swamy L, Sloan KA, Fitzgerald C, et al. Identifying Clinician Barriers To Improve Smoking Cessation Integration Within A Lung Cancer Screening Program At An Urban Safety-Net Hospital. D22. REDUCING HARMS Tob. USE. Am Thorac Soc. 2016; 133: A6504–A6504.
- 95. Goffin JR, Flanagan WM, Miller AB, et al. Biennial lung cancer screening in Canada with smoking cessation-outcomes and cost-effectiveness. Lung Cancer. 2016; 101: 98–103, doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2016.09.013, indexed in Pubmed: 27794416.
- Ashraf H, Dirksen A, Loft A, et al. Combined use of positron emission tomography and volume doubling time in lung cancer screening with low-dose CT scanning. Thorax. 2011; 66(4): 315–319, doi: 10.1136/thx.2010.136747, indexed in Pubmed: 21169285.
- 97. de Torres JP, Bastarrika G, Wisnivesky JP, et al. Assessing the relationship between lung cancer risk and emphysema detected on low-dose CT of the chest. Chest. 2007; 132(6): 1932–1938, doi: 10.1378/chest.07-1490, indexed in Pubmed: 18079226.
- Henschke CI, Yip R, Boffetta P, et al. I-ELCAP Investigators. CT screening for lung cancer: Importance of emphysema for never smokers and smokers. Lung Cancer. 2015; 88(1): 42– 47, doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2015.01.014, indexed in Pubmed: 25698134.
- 99. Flores R, Bauer T, Aye R, et al. I-ELCAP Investigators. Balancing curability and unnecessary surgery in the context of computed tomography screening for lung cancer. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2014; 147(5): 1619–1626, doi: 10.1016/j. jtcvs.2013.11.001, indexed in Pubmed: 24332102.
- 100. Eguchi T, Kadota K, Park BJ, et al. IASLC Pathology Committee, American Thoracic Society. International association for the study of lung cancer/american thoracic society/european respiratory society international multidisciplinary classification of lung adenocarcinoma. J Thorac Oncol. 2011; 6(2): 244–285, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e318206a221, indexed in Pubmed: 21252716.
- 101. Van Schil PE, Asamura H, Rusch VW, et al. Surgical implications of the new IASLC/ATS/ERS adenocarcino-

- ma classification. Eur Respir J. 2012; 39(2): 478–486, doi: 10.1183/09031936.00027511. indexed in Pubmed: 21828029.
- 102. Xu DM, Gietema H, de Koning H, et al. Nodule management protocol of the NELSON randomised lung cancer screening trial. Lung Cancer. 2006; 54(2): 177–184, doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2006.08.006, indexed in Pubmed: 16989922.
- 103. Yip R, Yankelevitz DE, Henschke CI. CT screening for lung cancer: Definition of positive test result in the National Lung Screening Trial ct cohort compared with I-ELCAP. J Thorac Oncol, 2013; 8: S326.
- 104. MacMahon H, Austin JHM, Gamsu G, et al. Fleischner Society. Guidelines for management of small pulmonary nodules detected on CT scans: a statement from the Fleischner Society. Radiology. 2005; 237(2): 395–400, doi: 10.1148/radiol.2372041887, indexed in Pubmed: 16244247.
- 105. Naidich DP, Bankier AA, MacMahon H, et al. Recommendations for the management of subsolid pulmonary nodules detected at CT: a statement from the Fleischner Society. Radiology. 2013; 266(1): 304–317, doi: 10.1148/radiol.12120628, indexed in Pubmed: 23070270.
- 106. Kazerooni EA, Armstrong MR, Amorosa JK, et al. ACR CT Accreditation Program and the Lung Cancer Screening Program Designation. J Am Coll Radiol. 2016; 13(2 Suppl): R30– R34, doi: 10.1016/j.jacr.2015.12.010, indexed in Pubmed: 26846533.
- 107. Nicholson AG, Chansky K, Crowley J, et al. Staging and Prognostic Factors Committee, Advisory Boards, and Participating Institutions, Staging and Prognostic Factors Committee Advisory Boards and Participating Institutions. The International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer Lung Cancer Staging Project: Proposals for the Revision of the Clinical and Pathologic Staging of Small Cell Lung Cancer in the Forthcoming Eighth Edition of the TNM Classification for Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2016; 11(3): 300–311, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2015.10.008, indexed in Pubmed: 26723244.
- 108. http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/lungb.html.
- Travis W, Brambilla E, Burke A, et al. WHO Classification on tumours of the lung, pleura, thymus and heart. Lyon: International Agency for Research oc Cancer. 2015; 48: S7.
- 110. Travis WD, Asamura H, Bankier AA, et al. International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer Staging and Prognostic Factors Committee and Advisory Board Members. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: Proposals for Coding T Categories for Subsolid Nodules and Assessment of Tumor Size in Part-Solid Tumors in the Forthcoming Eighth Edition of the TNM Classification of Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2016;

- $11(8)\colon\,1204-1223,\ doi:\ 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.03.025,\ indexed$ in Pubmed: 27107787.
- 111. Rami-Porta R. Staging handbook in thoracic oncology. IASLC.2 ed North Fort Myers.
- 112. Russell PA, Wainer Z, Wright GM, et al. Does lung adenocarcinoma subtype predict patient survival?: A clinicopathologic study based on the new International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer/American Thoracic Society/European Respiratory Society international multidisciplinary lung adenocarcinoma classification. J Thorac Oncol. 2011; 6(9): 1496–1504, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e318221f701, indexed in Pubmed: 21642859.
- 113. Tsuta K, Kawago M, Inoue E, et al. The utility of the proposed IASLC/ATS/ERS lung adenocarcinoma subtypes for disease prognosis and correlation of driver gene alterations. Lung Cancer. 2013; 81(3): 371–376, doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2013.06.012, indexed in Pubmed: 23891509.
- 114. Tsao AS, Scagliotti GV, Bunn PA, et al. Scientific Advances in Lung Cancer 2015. J Thorac Oncol. 2016; 11(5): 613–638, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2016.03.012, indexed in Pubmed: 27013409.
- 115. Pass HI, Beer DG, Joseph S, et al. Biomarkers and molecular testing for early detection, diagnosis, and therapeutic prediction of lung cancer. Thorac Surg Clin. 2013; 23(2): 211–224, doi: 10.1016/j.thorsurg.2013.01.002, indexed in Pubmed: 23566973.
- Dacic S, Shuai Y, Yousem S, et al. Clinicopathological predictors of EGFR/KRAS mutational status in primary lung adenocarcinomas. Mod Pathol. 2010; 23(2): 159–168, doi: 10.1038/modpathol.2009.154, indexed in Pubmed: 19855375.
- 117. World Health Organization, editor. Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010. 2011.
- 118. Shemesh J. Coronary artery calcification in clinical practice: what we have learned and why should it routinely be reported on chest CT? Ann Transl Med. 2016; 4(8): 159, doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.04.08, indexed in Pubmed: 27195277.
- 119. Greenland P, Alpert J, Beller G, et al. 2010 ACCF/AHA Guideline for Assessment of Cardiovascular Risk in Asymptomatic Adults: Executive Summary. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2010; 56(25): 2182–2199, doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2010.09.002.
- 120. Perk J, De Backer G, Gohlke H. ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG)European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (version 2012). Eur Hear J. 2012; 33: 1635–1701.
- 121. Gonzalez J, Marín M, Sánchez-Salcedo P, et al. Lung cancer screening in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Transl Med. 2016; 4(8): 160, doi: 10.21037//atm.2016.03.57, indexed in Pubmed: 27195278.